Included outside: Engaging people from ethnic minority backgrounds in nature

Evidence Briefing

First published September 2022

Natural England Technical Information Note TIN185



www.gov.uk/natural-england

Project details

Engagement with nature has been shown to have a range of health and wellbeing benefits. However, evidence from Natural England's Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey – and its successor the People and Nature Survey – shows that that nature spaces in rural and urban environments are not accessed equally by all and that factors including age, ethnicity and socio-economic status seem to play a role in this picture. Natural England therefore commissioned this series of Evidence Briefings called 'Included Outside' to bring together, in user-friendly formats, existing evidence on barriers to engagement with nature, and lesson from interventions to overcome them for particular under-represented groups.

Each Briefing focuses on a different 'group' that is under-represented in nature and the outdoors (although it is important to note that these groups do overlap, and this is highlighted as well): older people, people from ethnic minority backgrounds, people living with disabilities and people living in low-income areas. The Briefings give an overview of the barriers and enablers for engaging in nature for each group as well as relevant case studies and resources.

The Summary Report looks at the similarities and differences between the barriers and enablers for each group, and explores issues of 'intersectionality' (the ways in which social identities and related inequalities are connected and cross-cutting). It also describes the methodology used for reviewing the evidence sources and highlights key learning for the development and evaluation of inclusive nature engagement.

The aim is for these Briefings to provide a resource for organisations and individuals working to broaden engagement in nature and the outdoors so that they can get a better understanding of what the evidence says about barriers and also build on what works.

Natural England commission a range of reports from external contractors to provide evidence and advice to assist us in delivering our duties. The views in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of Natural England.

This report should be cited as:

Rishbeth, C., Neal, S., French, M. and Snaith, B. (2022) *Included outside: Engaging people from ethnic minority backgrounds in nature*. Evidence Briefing, Natural England Technical Information Note, TIN185. Natural England, York.

Natural England Project managers

Cheryl Willis -- Principal Adviser, Connecting People with Nature programme

Alexia Coke - Senior Specialist, Social Science team, Chief Scientist's Directorate

Contractor

University of Sheffield, UK

Authors

Clare Rishbeth - Senior Lecturer, Department of Landscape Architecture

Sarah Neal - Professor, Department of Sociological Studies

Morag French – Research Associate, Department of Landscape Architecture

Bridget Snaith – Lecturer, Department of Landscape Architecture

Keywords

Barriers to nature, diversity and inclusion, public engagement, recreation and access, Natural England Technical Information Note

Further information

This report can be downloaded from the Natural England Access to Evidence Catalogue: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/. For information on Natural England publications contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0300 060 3900 or e-mail enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk.

Contents

Enjoying time in natural environments and nature connections
This is a highly diverse group of people6
Common reasons that limit opportunities for people from ethnic minority backgrounds to enjoy nature
Lessons from the evidence for supporting better access and meaningful inclusion9
Case Studies11
Croydon "Destination Parks" Equalities Impact Assessment11
Dadima's Countryside Walks and Talks (Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) 12
Blak Outside (Carole Wright)13
Further readings and resources14
References



© Natural England, all rights reserved

Enjoying time in natural environments and nature connections

While it is important to challenge the stereotype of people from ethnic minorities as 'inherently urban' [50], there are higher percentages of ethnic minority residents in UK cities and towns [41] which means that urban greenspaces can be especially important for many people in this group. Nature is often experienced as part of everyday journeys and practices, such as walking children to school or shopping [37]. There are distinctions in how individuals from different ethnic minority backgrounds experience nature, and in their preferences for recreational time in natural environments, which often endure in different ways across generations born in the UK [51,54].

Ratna's ethnographic research details the appreciation of local neighbourhood environments and sociability of relaxed walking by Gujarati Indian men and women now living in England [44]. Being part of a group to enjoy 'togetherness' is an important value across many cultures [7, 39] and how greenspace is often appreciated, especially when there is enough space for larger families and gatherings. Multi-use spaces in ethnically diverse urban areas are important, so that children can play while parents meet friends, with opportunities for all to exercise and relax [32,37,54].

Sensory qualities of nature (blossom, birds, water, trees, flowers) as well as scenic views can provide deep cultural connections with nature in a space, providing a sense of identity across the life course, especially for migrants who had childhood experiences in other countries [45,46]. Recently arrived migrants, though facing many barriers, also talk about curiosity and delight in new landscapes, appreciating the seasonal qualities of northern European landscapes [37,45,46].

This is a highly diverse group of people

People from backgrounds of migration heritages have many different life histories and levels of affluence. Yet, there is a persistent pattern of people from ethnic minority backgrounds being more likely to live in low-income and green-deprived areas [41,15], and in England, Black people are four times as likely than White people to have no access to a garden or balcony [40]. However, it is also important to emphasise that there are people from ethnic minority backgrounds across all socio-economic categories, sectors and professions, hence the distinction between this evidence briefing and the one which focuses on engaging people living in lower income neighbourhoods in nature.

Some communities relevant to this briefing are first generation migrants, often still with important connections to family elsewhere. Many others are born in the UK and have extremely varied ways of identifying -- or not -- with older generations. Individual migrant histories are very important and a sense of local belonging can be informed by specific reasons for settling in the UK, with forced migration shaping very specific circumstances for refugees and asylum seekers [46]. Religious affiliation and faith identities are important for many people from ethnic minority groups, with patterns of religious practice informing daily life in different ways for different people.

Common reasons that limit opportunities for people from ethnic minority backgrounds to enjoy nature

Experiences of unwelcome visibility and racism when spending time in the natural environment. People from ethnic minority backgrounds can feel or be made to feel 'out of place' in many natural environments where the other visitors and/or residents are predominantly White (for example in most rural areas of the UK). The sense of heightened visibility as well as experiences of racism can increase feelings of exclusion and vulnerability in nature spaces and lead to concerns about racial harassment in the natural environment. The data on racism and race hate crime in greenspace show how pressing these concerns are [13,16, 36,39].

Experiences of, and concerns about, racism and racialisation can mean that some nature spaces, particularly National Parks and rural spaces, are under-used as Black and ethnic minority people feel as though they do not belong, are stereotyped, or that they don't fit in with expectations of other users [1,11,32,39]. The Lincolnshire based Black poet, Benjamin Zephaniah, was approached by police while out running in the countryside on account of local reports of 'a suspicious jogger' [8]. Being perceived as 'out-of-place' to the extent of being targeted as a criminal is echoed by many stories across different national contexts where people from ethnic minority backgrounds are assumed not to be legitimate nature enthusiasts or users of natural environments [26].

The ongoing burden for many of needing to avoid racial harassment means that judging whether a place feels 'safe' is a key reason in deciding where to spend time [47]. These everyday 'out of place' experiences can mean it is easier to engage time and energies elsewhere. This is likely to be one reason why relatively few environmental volunteers are from ethnic minority backgrounds [14,53].



© Natural England, all rights reserved

Cultural variation in how people want to spend time in natural environments. Alongside the importance of confronting stereotypes about 'who is seen to belong' in nature, it is also important to recognise how different cultural and historical experiences shape what different ethnic communities value and how they spend their leisure time [12,52]. Types of leisure that are relevant and engaging to individuals are, in part, culturally defined [1,32,24]. For instance, Janvaria's research discusses how cycling by women is perceived to be culturally and religiously challenging by many within the UK Indian ethnic community [23].

Specific differences are sometimes relevant: for example, Snaith [51] found that picnicking in extended family groups was a common activity for British Pakistani people, but not for British Bangladeshi people living in London. From her quantitative analysis, she also found that people from South Asian and Black ethnic minority backgrounds placed a higher emphasis than White respondents on desiring urban greenspace to be clean [51]. Perceptions of dirt and dog mess were likely to deter visiting because of a sense that this indicated a place that is not a healthy environment [17,51].

Free access for dogs to all areas is a problem. While dogs can be 'contact assets', generating social interaction between different people in nature spaces, there are many -- especially older people and small children -- who are nervous around dogs. In addition, there are particular issues regarding contact with dogs for many people of Islamic faith due to rules of ritual cleanliness [51]. The UK national context, where there is a common presumption that dogs are allowed to run off-lead, therefore causes specific access issues for some people from ethnic minority backgrounds, particularly if they are Muslim, and can be a significant deterrent in visiting many natural environments and urban greenspaces.

Fitting in can be defined by class, migration histories, colonial legacies and cultural identifiers. Predominantly 'White' cultural values in greenspace design and management [2,10,12,51], coupled with the dominant presence of White people in such outdoor spaces, can mean that some natural environments may be experienced as being either irrelevant or exclusionary. While these experiences and perspectives are often not heard, they are increasingly being articulated by people from varied ethnic minority backgrounds living in a range of contexts in relation to different types of green, rural and upland spaces [14,30,31,32,36,39,48,55].

The evidence shows that underlying concerns about 'fitting in' are complex. For more recent migrants, it might relate to feeling a need to understand more about expectations about ways of behaving in greenspace and rural areas, knowing how to interpret 'the rules,' or concerns about doing something wrong by mistake [46,55]. For some, it may be about clothing, what to wear in more 'adventurous' locations [55] or wearing clothes different to other people. Women and girls who wear scarves sometimes feel judged, stereotyped or harassed for this [5] and, though generally accepting summer sunbathing as a usual activity in the UK, some female park users who wear headscarves can feel uncomfortable when other park users are stripping off [51].

More broadly, colonial legacies and historic understandings of a less diverse 'national identity' have shaped perceptions and experiences of the English countryside [36,13,22], and these are not often openly discussed. These can continue to shape lived experiences of trauma and exclusion, and a sense that the complexity of social history and landscape is not being fully discussed [18,30].

Lessons from the evidence for supporting better access and meaningful inclusion



© Natural England, all rights reserved

Representation matters in challenging assumptions. One priority is to increase awareness within the environmental sector of how people in nature spaces are represented so that meaningful and practical inclusion becomes the norm [55]. Increasing the range of ways in which different people might enjoy natural environments, broadening a sense of what is interesting and relevant often leads to a more diverse visitor profile [39 and case studies]. One key tool is through more considered use of images as discussed in Natural England's 'Nature Visuals' guidance¹.

More fundamentally, training and awareness-raising within organisations about inclusion, recreation and nature engagement, as well as increasing the ethnic diversity of staff in the sector is vital [6,9,28, see also Mya-Rose Craig's work in 'further reading']. Urgent action regarding leadership representation is needed, with Backbone being a primary enabler in this area [25]. Another important dimension is the visibility and acknowledgement of different and sometimes problematic histories [22,30,31], and finding creative methods in which people can engage with this.

¹ <u>Nature visuals: Diversity in images of England's green and natural spaces - NECR375</u> (naturalengland.org.uk)

Free access for dogs to all areas is a problem for many (human and non-human), and a specific equality issue for some. Ensuring dogs are kept on leads or there are dog-free areas is a key mechanism for increasing greenspace visits by people from different ethnic and religious backgrounds [54]. While there can be resistance from dog owners, often such initiatives also align with biodiversity goals, and it is helpful to state this where relevant [35].

Dog management is increasingly being used as a proactive conservation measure, and depending on type of greenspace, location and biodiversity needs, may include dog-run areas in parks (rather than a small dog-free area), seasonal dog-free zones (many beaches, moorlands), or restrictions on dog walking at particular times of the year and/or day [4,21,35]. It's important that dog control policies are clearly communicated not just to dog owners on site but also as part of the 'what to expect' information available to all potential visitors.

Increase the diversity of ways in which people can spend time in nature spaces.

Leisure preferences and practices do change, so diversifying activities on offer in natural spaces is an on-going beneficial strategy, and many spaces such as country parks are extremely good at innovating in this regard. A good starting point is understanding the range of interests and needs of a wide range of people and increasing the diversity of recreational options and variation of programming in nature spaces [42,7,20]. It may also mean "open the doors in the evening when they want to visit" [27].

Connecting with people's identities, preferences, and aspirations is best developed through discussion and ongoing engagement, including gradually changing perceptions that you don't need to be "outdoorsy" to enjoy spending time in nature [55]. For example, over the summer months Newham Council campsite in Epping Forest has a 'day field' (no overnight stays) with BBQ stands, which is regularly open to people to drive in and picnic next to their cars. Music is allowed and all dogs need to be on leads. This nature space provides the comfort and ease of one's own small 'base' and has proved to be a highly attractive day out for people from a wide range of ethnic backgrounds, distinctly different to the user profile found elsewhere in the forest.

Accepting diverse perceptions and enjoyments of what is 'nature'. Culture and nature are in continuous interaction and can be defined in varied ways, with many people enjoying the 'non wild' form [51]. In particular, valuing urban everyday nature is important in reflecting the genuine nature connections of communities who are less able or interested in visiting rural areas [5,20, case study London National Park City].

However, greenspace design and management can sometimes represent a narrow view of what qualifies as desirable 'taste' [19,51, 53] or lack critical reflection on assumptions about the uses and users of greenspace and what is 'normal' [10,14,26,39]. The video series made by City Girl in Nature (see further reading) highlights how an openness towards widely varied ways of engaging with nature allows diverse community heritages to be reflected.

Confidence for accessing 'wilder' or 'remote' natural environments. Increasingly people from ethnic minorities are defining and facilitating their own contact and connection with nature through the use of socially safe spaces, whether defined by gender, religion, ethnicity or overlaps of these [29]. In the case studies in this briefing, we highlight some of these initiatives and the role of community leaders in instigating and maintaining them. Working long-term and with meaningful input into decision making with diverse groups of local residents or potential visitors can lead to better representation [6,14]. Group activities are a way to ensure safety and quality [6], and to build individual confidence and skills [49], especially where communities have historically experienced high levels of exclusion [2,39].

Confidence for making full use of 'near home' natural environments. Prioritising safety and perceptions of safety need to be integral to greenspace provision for communities who have good reason to be wary of harassment [47]. Stories and memories of what has happened in a place can be very powerful. If a crime has happened in a specific location that story will be retold and shared for many years, and new community narratives of reclaiming spaces may be needed [38].

Design which allows people to feel safe [47], such as clear and well-used pathways through a nature area, are important to reduce fear of criminality, both in urban greenspace and in rural areas [43]. This does not mean that everywhere needs to be busy to feel safe, however. Finding tranquillity and privacy is also valued as a quality of spending time in natural environments [5,38]. Spiritual and religious dimensions of these, such as praying outdoors, were also discussed as important during interviews with first generation migrants living in Sheffield [45].

Case Studies

Croydon "Destination Parks" Equalities Impact Assessment

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) of proposed landscape and policy changes formed part of a wider study commissioned by the London Borough of Croydon (2017). The council was seeking to investigate the potential for change in the context of increased population growth and diminishing funding. Six 'destination' parks were investigated, ranging from neighbourhood spaces to historic urban recreation grounds, and from spaces for borough-wide sporting and cultural events to wooded Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) in the chalk downlands.

There was widespread resident and stakeholder engagement, from in-depth interviews and workshops to large-scale surveys with local residents. The project team engaged with over 1,000 people in face-to-face surveys and received input from over 2,000 residents online. Engagement reached not only park users, but included people who rarely visited or made little use of Croydon's greenspaces. The EIA process revealed that early stages of the study had not reached a representative sample of participants by age, ethnicity or gender, and that this was skewing baseline information. Further baseline engagement work resulted, targeting particular sectors of the community who had so far been under–represented.

Ethnicity, age and gender were shown to influence reasons for park visits, preferred activities and infrastructure, disliked features, and the likelihood that dislikes would limit the frequency of visits. The EIA and community engagement therefore allowed Croydon to understand what was important for different residents, and to prioritise investment accordingly.

Takeaway point: Equalities Impact Assessments can be hugely valuable in understanding how places are valued and perceived by different visitors and potential visitors and in helping providers be accountable and equitable in setting their priorities. However, they are only as good as the care taken to ensure representative sampling of respondents.

Lloyd Park EIA example: Croydon Destination Parks Masterplanning: Lloyd Park

Dadima's Countryside Walks and Talks

Dr Geeta Ludhra (Chilterns Conservation Board Member) leads the innovative walking group 'Dadima's Countryside Walks and Talks', which are designed to change the narrative of the countryside.

"Walking is my form of gentle activism, as I create a space that I never saw or felt part of, and slowly change the narrative. I hear new stories, notice new beauty, and put modernday life challenges into perspective. [...] When I see communities enjoying Dadima's walks, I know that Mother Nature is smiling upon us, laughing with us, and protecting us through her wise elements."

These free walks, offered within the overall programme of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), create a welcoming space for people from diverse backgrounds to walk and talk together, share stories, and enjoy a connection with nature. They are intentionally intergenerational, inviting children, grandparents and people of all ages to join in - enhancing health and wellbeing in many ways, these walks encourage the sharing of personal stories as well as learning about the countryside in which they happen.

The cultural dimension of these walks distinguishes the programme somewhat from peerled walking groups. Participants are encouraged to bring and share home-cooked heritage recipes, promoting cooking from scratch "like our grandparents and ancestors did". Dr Ludhra also invites a range of experts and enthusiasts along to take part in different walks, share their expertise, and stimulate additional discussion and co-learning.

The cultural heritage of her walkers is entwined in the ethos of all the walks, and sometimes given centre stage through walk titles such as 'Saris, Salwaars & Boots: Samosas, Chai & Chutney', through activities highlighted "sharing migration stories... and

cultural wisdom/heritage", and by the encouragement of sharing food "bring vegetarian Indian snacks to share if you wish".

Takeaway point: Walking together is a simple act and can mean different things at different times. Explicitly including personal stories within the setting acknowledges diverse cultural heritages, can surface a more complex and honest relationship with changing rural landscapes, and allows for diverse ways of belonging.

Website: Dadima's Countryside Walks & Talks: 2022 Programme

Blak Outside (Carole Wright)

Blak Outside is a multi-disciplinary creative collective founded by urban activist, community gardener, and beekeeper Carole Wright. Building on thirty years of Carole's community work advocacy and engagement with nature and growing in inner city social housing areas, Blak Outside is embedded in cultural experiences of urban life and outside space. The collective brings together around 50 practitioners, working across art, spatial politics and community practice to provide culturally diverse and inclusive events, and the annual grass roots, intergenerational Blak Outside Festival. The collective, their outputs and the events they produce are actively supportive of working class social housing residents, and the QTIBIPOC (queer, trans, intersex, Black, indigenous, people of colour) community.

Wright's creative work includes community projects, growing, cooking, walking, mapping and walks exploring connections with and experiences of being outdoors, with charities, organisations and institutions like Whitehouse Dagenham, Tate Modern, the Landscape Institute, Peabody Trust, or St Mungo's. Wright currently manages two community gardens in Southwark, South London, where she regularly works with primary and secondary school students, housing estate residents and housing managers and local councillors.

Recent projects include a Serpentine Fellowship "Support Structures for Support Structures" 2021-22, Blak Outside 2021 Creative Resilience; Blak Outside 2020 Festival (The Garden Museum and Peabody Blackfriars, London, 2020); Walking my Manor (Cordwainers Grow, London, 2020); Walking whilst being Blak Outside (Industria Publication, 2020); IFLA World Congress (Oslo, Norway, 2019), The Big Lunch (Eden Project, 2019); Penfold Medicinal Garden (The Showroom, London, 2018).

Takeaway point: find out who is doing excellent work and see how you might be able to support them, join in, add value and increase their resource. Nature here is not confined to an 'environmental sector' but part of local cultural activity.

Instagram: @blak outside

Facebook page: Blak Outside

Further readings and resources

#RefugeesWelcome in Parks

This resource book gives an insight into the experiences of refugee and asylum seeker park users, highlights relevant barriers and expectations, and offers ideas for engagement and inclusion approaches.

Website: Refugees Welcome in Parks

See also Gardens of Sanctuary website: Gardens of Sanctuary

Peer-led outdoor activity groups

These groups are increasing in number, increasing in diversity of outdoor activities, and increasing in profile. However, they are often not necessarily increasingly well-resourced; so, if reaching out, it is important to think about what your organisation has to offer.

Websites:

- Boots and Beards
- Black Girls Hike UK
- <u>Muslim Hikers</u>
- Black Unity Bike Ride

Web article from Now Then, a Magazine for Sheffield: Peaks of Colour Walking Group

Black2Nature

This is a Visible Minority Ethnic (VME) led organisation set up by Mya-Rose Craig to support young people from VME communities to learn about nature and spend time in natural environments. Mya-Rose also campaigns for more diverse and equitable representation in the environmental sector.

Webpage: Black 2 Nature

The Museum of English Rural Life (MERL): changing perceptions in the countryside

The Museum of English Rural Life (MERL) is located within the University of Reading and has an extensive online presence. This resource is a series of conversations with people of colour about their experiences in the countryside.

Webpage: Changing Perspectives in the Countryside

Royal Botanic Gardens, Edinburgh

Ideas of collecting, alien plants and colonial histories are increasingly being considered in horticultural contexts, with the Royal Botanic Gardens in Edinburgh setting out some of the challenges and approaches here.

Webpage: Edinburgh Royal Botanic Garden's Work on Equity and Access

Access to nature in the countryside – Campaign to Protect Rural England 2021 report

There are a wealth of insights and findings relating to access to the English countryside for people of colour, informed by participant-led research and including many accounts by people from varied backgrounds and heritages.

Webpage with link to pdf of the report: <u>Access to Nature in the English Countryside</u> research report

References

- Askins, K. (2006) 'New countryside? New country: visible communities in the English national parks' in: Neal, S. and Agyeman, J. (eds.) *The New Countryside?: Ethnicity, Nation and Exclusion in Contemporary Rural Britain*. Great Britain: The Policy Press, pp. 149-172. ISBN 9781861347961.
- 2. Ayamba, M. (2021) *Why the environment movement needs to value diversity.* Available from: <u>www.cpre.org.uk/opinions/why-the-environment-movement-needs-to-value-diversity/</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- Ayamba, M. and Rotherham, I. (2008) A Handbook and Guide for Agencies: Working with Black and Minority Ethnic Communities in South Yorkshire. Tourism and Environmental Change Research Unit. Sheffield Hallam University. Available from: <u>www.semcharity.org.uk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/09/Maxwell Handbook Vol1.pdf. (Accessed February 2022).
- 4. Belt, C. (2015) *The truth about parks and dogs.* National Recreation and Park Association magazine. Available from: <u>www.nrpa.org/parks-recreation-</u> magazine/2015/may/the-truth-about-parks-and-dogs/ (Accessed March 2022)
- Birch, J., Rishbeth, C. and Payne, S.R. (2020) 'Nature doesn't judge you how urban nature supports young people's mental health and wellbeing in a diverse UK city', *Health & Place*, 62, pp. 102296–102296. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2020.102296.
- 6. Campaign for National Parks (2015) *An Overview of the Mosaic Model.* Available from: <u>www.cnp.org.uk/how-mosaic-works</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 7. Chilterns AONB (2021) *Dadima's Monthly Walk and Talk in the Chilterns* (online). Available from: <u>www.chilternsaonb.org/news/525/19/Dadimas-Monthly-Walk-and-Talk-Sundays-in-the-Chilterns.html</u> (Accessed March 2022).

- 8. Cloke, P. (2013). 'Rurality and racialised others: out of place in the countryside?' in: Chakraborti, N., Garland, J. (eds) *Rural Racism*, pp. 29-47. London, Willan.
- 9. CPRE (2021) Access to Nature in the English Countryside. Available from: www.cpre.org.uk/resources/2021-research-overview-access-to-nature-in-theenglish-countryside/ (Accessed March 2022).
- Dawson, E. (2014) 'Not Designed for Us: How science museums and science centres socially exclude low-income, minority ethnic groups', *Science Education*, 98(6), pp. 981–1008. <u>doi:10.1002/sce.21133.</u>
- De Lima, P. (2012) 'Boundary Crossings: Migration, Belonging/'Un-belonging' in Rural Scotland' in: Hedberg, C., do Carmo, R. (eds) *Translocal Ruralism*. GeoJournal Library, vol 103. Dordrecht: Springer. <u>doi/10.1007/978-94-007-2315-</u> <u>3 12</u>.
- Edwards, R. and Larson, B. (2022) 'Accounting for diversity: Exploring the inclusivity of recreation planning in the United Kingdom's protected areas', *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 221, pp. 1-13. <u>doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2022.104361</u>.
- 13. Fowler, C. (2020) *Green unpleasant land: creative responses to rural England's colonial connections.* Leeds, England: Peepal Tree Press.
- 14. Francis, C. (2021) *Why Representation Matters.* The Sensory Trust. Available from: <u>www.sensorytrust.org.uk/blog/why-representation-matters/</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 15. Friends of the Earth (2021) *Access to green space in England you missing out?* Available from: <u>www:friendsoftheearth.uk/nature/access-green-space-england-are-you-missing-out</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 16. Garland, J. and Chakraborti, N. (2006) 'Recognising and Responding to Victims of Rural Racism', *International review of victimology*, 13(1), pp. 49–69. <u>doi: 10.1177%2F026975800601300103</u>.
- 17. Gidlow, C.J. and Ellis, N.J. (2011) 'Neighbourhood green space in deprived urban communities: issues and barriers to use', *Local environment*, 16(10), pp. 989–1002. doi:10.1080/13549839.2011.582861.
- Goodrid, M. (2018). Racial Complexities of Outdoor Spaces: An Analysis of African American's Lived Experiences in Outdoor Recreation. Master's Thesis. University of the Pacific. Available from: <u>https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop_etds/3121</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 19. Green, J. and Ford, D. (2020). *Will Covid19 make parks even less accessible?* Available from: <u>www.nesta.org.uk/report/will-covid-19-make-parks-even-less-accessible/</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 20. Groundwork (2021) *Out of Bounds: Equity in Access to Urban Nature*. Available from: <u>www.groundwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Out-of-Bounds-equity-in-access-to-urban-nature.pdf</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 21. Herts & Middlesex Wildlife Trust (2022) *Dogs on nature reserves*. Available from: <u>https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/nature-reserves/dogs-nature-reserves</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 22. Huxtable, S.A., Kefalas, C. and Slocombe, E. (2021) *Interim Report on the Connections between Colonialism and Properties now in the Care of the National Trust, Including Links with Historic Slavery.* National Trust. Available from:

nt.global.ssl.fastly.net/documents/colionialism-and-historic-slavery-report.pdf (Accessed February 2022).

- 23. Janvaria, J.V. (2019) *Performing cycling: Cultural dimensions of cycling practices.* PhD thesis. The University of Salford. Available from: <u>Performing cycling masters</u> <u>final (2019) v.01.pdf (salford.ac.uk)</u>. (Accessed February 2022).
- 24. Jay, M., Peters K., Buijs A.E., Gentin S., Kloek M.E. and O'Brien L. (2012) 'Towards access for all? Policy and research on access of ethnic minority groups to natural areas in four European countries' *Forest Policy and Economics*, 19, pp. 4-11. doi: 10.1016/j.forpol.2011.12.008.
- 25. Johal, P. (2021). Backbone. Changing Landscapes, Actioning Change 2O21 A report sharing key learning from Backbone CiC's Symposium. Available from: www.backbone.uk.net/newversion/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Changing-Landscapes-Actioning-Change-Symposium-2021-Report.pdf (Accessed March 2022)..
- 26. Lanham, D .(2013) 9 *Rules for the Black birdwatcher*. Orion Magazine People and Nature. Available from: <u>www.orionmagazine.org/article/9-rules-for-the-black-birdwatcher/</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 27. Loynes, C. (2021) *Inclusivity in the outdoors*. Available from: <u>www.outdoor-</u> <u>learning.org/Portals/0/IOL%20Documents/Equality%20Diversity%20Inclusion/Inclus</u> <u>ivity%20in%20the%20Outdoors/EDI%20-</u> <u>%20The%20Outdoors%20for%20Everyone%20Report.pdf?ver=2021-11-22-</u> 155502-967 (Accessed March 2022).
- 28. Mackie, L. (2015). *Evaluation of the Mosaic Cymru Project Final Summary report.* Available from: <u>https://www.cnp.org.uk/news/mosaic-wales-evaluation</u> (Accessed February 2020).
- 29. Marques, C.R., Reis, E., Menezes, J., and Salgueiro, M. (2017). 'Modelling preferences for nature-based recreation activities'. *Leisure Studies*, 36, pp. 107 89. <u>doi:10.1080/02614367.2015.1014928</u>.
- 30. McKenzie, Z. (2020) *'My (w)rites of passage'*. Forestry England. Available from: <u>www.forestryengland.uk/my-writes-passage-zakiya-mckenzie</u> (Accessed February 2020).
- 31. Museum of English Rural Life (2022) *Changing Perspectives in the Countryside Building Connections.* Available from: <u>http://merl.reading.ac.uk/explore/online-exhibitions/changing-perspectives-in-the-countryside/</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 32. Natural England (2005) *What About Us? Challenging perceptions; Underrepresented groups visitor needs*'. CRN94. Available from: <u>publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/63060</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 33. Natural England (2017) Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment Survey: developing a method to measure nature connection across the English population (adults and children). NECR233. Available from: <u>publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5337609808642048?category=8871</u> 008 (Accessed February 2022).
- 34. Natural England (2018) *Opening Access to the Countryside*. 5th October. Available from: <u>http://naturalengland.blog.gov.uk/2018/10/05/opening-access-to-the-countryside/</u> (Accessed March 2022).

35. Natural England (2021) Using Behavioural Insights to Reduce Recreation Impacts on Wildlife: Guidance & Case Studies from Thames Basin Heaths and the Solent. NECR329. Available at: publications naturalengland org.uk/publication/4742851775954944 (Accessed

publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4742851775954944 (Accessed March 2022).

- 36. Neal, S. and Agyeman, J. (eds) (2006) *The New Countryside? Ethnicity, nation and exclusion in contemporary rural Britain*. Great Britain: The Policy Press. ISBN 978-1861347954.
- 37. Neal, S., Bennett K., Jones H., Cochrane A. and Mohan G. (2015) 'Multiculture and Public Parks: Researching super-diversity and attachment in public green space', *Population Space and Place*. 21, pp. 463-475. doi: 10.1002/psp.1910.
- 38. Noël, C., Van Landschoot, L., Vanroelen, C., and Gadeyne, S. (2021) 'Social barriers for the use of available and accessible public green spaces', *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, 3. doi:10.3389/frsc.2021.744766. doaj.org/article/eb3697acad254f3cb92d8679f70e4785
- 39. Noor, P. (2020). 'Being black while in nature: You're an endangered species'. *The Guardian newspaper.* 31st May. Available from: www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2020/may/31/being-black-while-in-nature-yourean-endangered-species (Accessed February 2022).
- 40. Office for National Statistics (2020) *Access to garden spaces: England.* Available from:

www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseho Idshasnogarden/2020-05-

<u>14#:~:text=Explore%20access%20to%20green%20space%20in%20your%20neigh</u> <u>bourhood&text=One%20in%20eight%20households%20(12,Survey%20(OS)%20m</u> <u>ap%20data</u> (Accessed February 2022).

- 41. Office for National Statistics (2020) *People living in deprived neighbourhoods.* Available from: <u>www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-</u> <u>ethnicity/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 42. Public Health England (2020) Improving access to greenspace A new review for 2020. England: PHE publications. Available from: <u>assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment</u> <u>data/file/904439/Improving_access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 43. Ramblers.org.uk (2022) *Where can you walk?* Available from: <u>www.ramblers.org.uk/advice/paths-in-england-and-wales/where-can-you-walk.aspx</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 44. Ratna, A. (2017) 'Walking for leisure: the translocal lives of first-generation Gujarati Indian men and women', *Leisure Studies*, 36(5), pp. 618-632. doi: 10.1080/02614367.2017.1285952.
- 45. Rishbeth, C. and Birch, J. (2021) 'Urban nature and transnational lives', *Population Space and Place*, 27(4), pp. 1–15. <u>doi:10.1002/psp.2416</u>.
- 46. Rishbeth, C., Blachnicka-Ciacek, D. and Darling, J. (2019) 'Participation and wellbeing in urban greenspace: 'curating sociability' for refugees and asylum seekers', *Geoforum*, 106, pp. 125–134. <u>doi: 10.1016/j.geoforum.2019.07.014</u>.

- 47. Rishbeth, C., Ganji, F. and Vodick, G. (2018) 'Ethnographic understandings of ethnically diverse neighbourhoods to inform urban design practice', *Local Environment*, 23(1), pp. 36–53. doi: 10.1080/13549839.2017.1385000.
- 48. Sethi, A. (2021) *I Belong Here: A Journey Along the Backbone of Britain*. London, UK: Bloomsbury: Publishing.
- 49. Sheffield and Rotherham Wildlife Trust (2021) *Connecting Steps Project Lakeland partnership*. Available from: <u>www.wildsheffield.com/discover/your-community/wild-at-heart/connecting-steps/</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 50. Shibli, A. (2021) *No Country for Brown (Wo)Men?* Available from: <u>www.ukclimbing.com/articles/opinions/no_country_for_brown_women-12881</u> (Accessed March 2022).
- 51. Snaith, B. (2015) *The Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park: Whose values, whose Benefits?* PhD thesis. University of London. Available from: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/19291/ (Accessed February 2022).
- 52. Stodolska, M., Peters, K. and Horolets, A. (2017) 'Changes in recreation participation in natural environments after immigration among immigrants in the U.S., Netherlands, Germany and Poland'. *Leisure Studies*, 36:6, 811-824, doi: 10.1080/02614367.2016.1271820.
- 53. Timbrell, H. (2020). What the bloody hell are you doing here?: a comparative study of the experiences of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) and White volunteers in four UK organisations. 6th July. Available from: www.youtube.com/watch?v=jpvKFhu2mXw (Accessed February 2022).
- 54. Tyrens (2017) *Ashburton Park Masterplan*, Croydon, London. Available from: <u>http://cupdf.com/document/croydon-destination-parks-masterplanning-lloyd-park-a-parks-masterplanning-reports.html</u> (Accessed February 2022).
- 55. Youth Hostelling Association (2020) *Outside Voices: An anthology of live experience.* Available from: <u>https://livemore.yha.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/08/outside-voices-report.pdf</u> (Accessed February 2022).

Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

Natural England publications are available as accessible pdfs from www.gov.uk/natural-england.

Should an alternative format of this publication be required, please contact our enquiries line for more information: 0300 060 3900 or email enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk.

ISBN 978-1-78354-981-8 Catalogue code: TIN185 This publication is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence v3.0 for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3</u>.

Please note: Natural England photographs are only available for noncommercial purposes. For information regarding the use of maps or data visit <u>www.gov.uk/how-to-access-natural-</u> <u>englands-maps-and-data</u>.

© Natural England 2022

